
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ALABAMA 

MIDDLE DIVISION 
 

ROBERT H. HEPTINSTALL, WENDELL ) 
E. SIMS, JAMES L. COLLINS,   ) 
FRED D. WORKS, THOMAS F.  ) 
CAMPBELL, J. RUSSELL NEWMAN,  ) 
AND JACKY T. BLACKWELL  ) 
as individuals and class representatives,     ) 
       ) 
   Plaintiffs,   ) 
       ) CIVIL ACTION NO. 

  v.     ) 
       ) CV-06-1564-CLS 
MONSANTO COMPANY, INC.,  ) 
a corporation; MONSANTO COMPANY ) 
SALARIED EMPLOYEES’ PENSION ) 
PLAN; MONSANTO EMPLOYEE   ) 
BENEFITS PLAN COMMITTEE;   ) 
MONSANTO COMPANY EMPLOYEE  ) 
BENEFITS EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE; ) 
PHARMACIA CORPORATION, a  ) 
corporation; SOLUTIA, INC., a   ) 
corporation; SOLUTIA INC.   )  
EMPLOYEES’ PLAN,     )  
       ) 
   Defendants.   ) 
       

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 
 

JURISDICTION and VENUE 
 

1. This court has subject matter jurisdiction over the above styled 

action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and the Employee Retirement Income 

Security Act of 1974, as amended (ERISA), 29 U.S.C. §§ 1001 et. seq.  

Venue is proper in the middle division pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2) 
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and 29 U.S.C. §1132(e)(2) in that a substantial part of the events or 

omissions giving rise to Plaintiffs’ claims arose or occurred in this division. 

PARTIES   

2.  Plaintiffs, Robert H. Heptinstall (“Bob Heptinstall”), Wendell 

E. Sims (“Wendell Sims”), James L. Collins (“Larry Collins”), Fred 

Dewayne Works (“Fred Works”), Thomas Ferrell Campbell (“Thomas 

Campbell”), James Russell Newman (“Russell Newman”), and Jacky T. 

Blackwell (“Jacky Blackwell”) are former employees of the Monsanto 

Company, Inc. (Monsanto). 

3. Plaintiffs, Bob Heptinstall, Wendell Sims, Larry Collins, and 

Russell Newman presently reside in Marshall County, Alabama.   

4. Plaintiff, Fred Works, presently resides in DeKalb County, 

Alabama. 

5. Plaintiff, Thomas Ferrell Campbell, presently resides in Colbert 

County, Alabama. 

6. Plaintiff, Jacky Blackwell, presently resides in East Palestine, 

Ohio.  

7. Monsanto is a corporation having done business or presently 

doing business in Alabama.   
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8. On or about September 1, 1997, Monsanto entered into a 

distribution agreement with Solutia, Inc., a Delaware Corporation, wherein 

Monsanto spun off certain assets of its chemical businesses. 

9.  The now defunct Sand Mountain plant where Plaintiffs worked 

from 1972 to 1981 when they were placed on “layoff” is a former business 

operated by Monsanto as part of its chemicals group. 

10.      Monsanto also operated a plant in Decatur, Alabama as part of 

its chemicals group, which is now a Solutia, Inc. “Solutia” plant. 

11.  Solutia’s employee identification number is 43-1781797. 

12. On or about December 19, 1999, Monsanto, MP Sub, Inc., and 

Pharmacia & Upjohn, Inc. entered into a Plan of Merger, whereby the parties 

agreed that MP Sub, Inc. would be merged with and into Pharmacia & 

Upjohn, Inc. with Pharmacia & Upjohn, Inc. surviving as a wholly owned 

subsidiary of Monsanto. 

13. On or about February 9, 2000, Monsanto Ag Company, Inc. 

(“New” Monsanto) was formed as a wholly owned subsidiary of Monsanto 

organized under the laws of the state of Delaware. 

14. On or about March 31, 2000, the merger was effective, 

Monsanto changed its name to Pharmacia Corporation, and Monsanto Ag 

Company changed its name to Monsanto Company, Inc (“New” Monsanto).   
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15. On or about September 1, 2000, Pharmacia and New Monsanto 

entered into a Separation Agreement wherein Pharmacia would retain not 

less than 80.1% of New Monsanto’s outstanding stock.    

16.   On or about July 1, 2002, Pharmacia and New Monsanto 

agreed to the First Amendment to the Separation Agreement whereby 

Pharmacia announced its intention to distribute its entire ownership interest 

in New Monsanto to the stockholders of Pharmacia or take other action that 

would result in Pharmacia no longer controlling New Monsanto.     

17. Pharmacia was subsequently acquired in whole or in part by 

Pfizer, Inc.     

FACTS 

18. Monsanto opened a plant, the “Sand Mountain” plant, in 

Marshall County, Alabama in early 1972.  

19. Production at the Sand Mountain plant began in 1972 when 

Monsanto began producing nylon and/or polyester.  

20. Plaintiff, Bob Heptinstall, recalls beginning work for Monsanto 

on August 8, 1972. 

21. Monsanto contends that Bob Heptinstall began his employment 

on August 30, 1972. 
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22. Notwithstanding, Bob Heptinstall’s employment with 

Monsanto was continuous from the first day until his last day of active work 

and thereafter. 

23. Plaintiff, Wendell Sims, began working for Monsanto August 

16, 1972, and his employment was continuous from the first day until his 

last day of active work and thereafter. 

24. Plaintiff, Larry Collins, began working for Monsanto August 

23, 1972, and his employment was continuous from his first day until his 

last day of active work and thereafter. 

25. Plaintiff, Fred Works, began working for Monsanto August 30, 

1972, and his employment was continuous from his first day until his last 

day of active work and thereafter. 

26. Plaintiff, Thomas Campbell, began working for Monsanto 

August 16, 1972, and his employment was continuous from his first day 

until his last day of active work and thereafter. 

27. Plaintiff, Russell Newman, began working for Monsanto in 

August 1972, and his employment was continuous from his first day until 

his last day of active work and thereafter. 
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28. Plaintiff, Jacky Blackwell, began working for Monsanto in 

August 1972, and his employment was continuous from his first day until 

his last day of active work and thereafter. 

29. During the period of Plaintiffs’ employment with Monsanto it 

maintained a defined pension plan for its employees, the “1971 Monsanto 

Company Salaried Employes’ Pension Plan,” the (“1971 Plan”).  

30. In 1972 Plaintiffs were all non-exempt production level salaried 

employees subject to the Fair Labor Standards Act “FLSA.” 

31. Plaintiffs were compensated on a salaried basis plus they 

received additional compensation for overtime pursuant to FLSA. 

32. Plaintiffs were all participants of the 1971 Plan. 

33. Under the 1971 Plan a participant was entitled to a deferred 

pension if his “Continuous Service” from the first day of employment until 

his last equaled ten years. 

34. Monsanto amended, restated, and continued the 1971 Plan as 

the “1976 Monsanto Company Salaried Employes’ Pension Plan,” the “1976 

Plan.” 

35.  The 1976 Plan was a continuation of the 1971 defined pension 

plan subject to the newly enacted Employee Retirement Insurance Security 

Act “ERISA.” 
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36. Section 18.5 of the 1976 Plan Document maintained by 

Defendants defines “Hour of Service” as:     

An “Hour of Service” means an hour for which an 
employe is directly or indirectly compensated by the 
Employers or by a Subsidiary in the case of service with 
such Subsidiary, for the performance of duties for the 
Employers or such Subsidiary (including hours of which 
an employe has been awarded backpay by the Employers 
or such Subsidiary or by any governmental agency or 
judicial body to the extent such hours are not otherwise 
treated as Hours of Service).  Notwithstanding the 
preceding sentence, the following special rules shall apply: 
(a) To the extent not otherwise treated as Hours of Service 
the following shall constitute Hours of Service:  (i) 
Overtime clock hours; (ii) Hours of Service required to be 
taken into account to satisfy federal military service laws 
or regulations or to satisfy any other federal laws; (iii) 
Hours of absence from active work because of regular paid 
vacations or holidays; (iv) Hours of absence from active 
work because of occupational illness or disability not yet 
determined to constitute total and permanent disability; (v) 
Hours of absence from active work during the first 12 
months of an absence due to non-occupational illness or 
disability not yet determined to constitute total and 
permanent disability or due to a layoff; (vi) Hours during 
an authorized leave of absence or during such shorter 
period as may be specified by the Plan Committee. (b) For 
purposes of subsection 18.6, Hours of Service shall also 
include hours, not otherwise treated as Hours of Service, 
for which participant is directly or indirectly compensated 
by the Employers or the Subsidiaries, or entitled to 
compensation from the Employers or Subsidiaries, for 
absences due to sickness, disability or other similar reason. 
(c) For purposes of subsection 18.1, Hours of Service shall 
also include hours, not other-wise treated as Hours of 
Service, for which a Part-Time Employe participant is 
credited and deemed to have accrued during a calendar 
month subsequent to December 1975, as provided by 
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subparagraph 18.1(1). (d) Hours of Service shall include 
Hours of Service accrued by a Qualified Disabled 
Terminated Employe for purposes of Vesting Service and 
Post-1975 Benefit Service, pursuant to subparagraphs 
18.1(a)(iii) and 18.4(b) of this Plan. 
 
Hours of Service may be computed and recorded under the 
“elapsed time” regulations if the Employer so elects. 
 

37.       Section 18.1 of the 1976 Plan Document maintained by 

Defendants defines “Vesting Service” as: 

A participant’s “Vesting Service” means the total of his 
years of service and fractional years of service determined 
in accordance with the following rules: (a) Service with 
the Employers and the Subsidiaries, including former 
subsidiaries during the period they were in the status of a 
Subsidiary, will be treated as Vesting Service as follows: 
(i) A participant will be credited with one year of Vesting 
Service for each Plan Year during which he completes at 
least 1,000 “Hours of Service” (as defined in subsection 
18.5) with the Employers and the Subsidiaries. (ii) If a 
participant completes less than 1,000 Hours of Service in 
any Plan Year he shall be entitled to a fractional portion of 
a year of Vesting Service for such Plan Year which 
fraction shall be determined by dividing the number of 
such participant’s Hours of Service during such Plan Year 
by the number of Hours of Service (not less than 1,000) 
which are included in the participant’s Standard Work 
Year (as defined in subsection 18.7). . . .   
 

38. Section 1.6 of the 1976 Plan Document maintained by 

Defendants defines “Plan Year” as: “The Plan is administered on the basis of 

a plan year (the “Plan Year”) which coincides with the calendar year.” 
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39. According to the Summary Plan Document (“SPD”), “YOUR 

BENEFITS- Monsanto,” distributed to participants starting January 1, 1976, 

one year of Vesting Service would be credited for each calendar year in 

which the participant completed 1000 or more Hours of Service.  

40. According to the SPD an Hour of Service means each hour for 

which you are paid – either directly or indirectly-or are entitled to payment 

for time not actually worked – i.e. holidays, vacations, temporary disability, 

etc.   

41. Because overtime hours are hours for which a participant is 

directly compensated they are credited as Hours of Service according to the 

1976 SPD. 

42. According to the 1976 SPD Vesting Service for calendar years 

before 1976 would be credited as described above – or on the basis of 

Credited Service as determined under prior Company pension plans –

“whichever is more favorable to you.” 

43. Plaintiffs were all participants of the 1976 Plan. 

44. The Sand Mountain plant was a continuous operation plant 

producing nylon and polyester 24 hours a day seven days a week. 

45. During its first few years of operation the Sand Mountain plant 

operated on a rotating shift schedule of seven continuous days on first shift 
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(eight a.m. to four p.m.), seven continuous days on second shift (four p.m. to 

midnight), seven continuous days on third shift (midnight until eight a.m.) 

followed by seven days on first shift etc. with two off days between each 

shift.     

46.  The rotating shift schedule required non-exempt production 

level employees to work Sundays on first shift as mandatory overtime each 

complete rotation for a total of thirteen mandatory overtime days per 

calendar year. 

47. The rotating shift schedule required non-exempts to work six 

holidays per calendar year notwithstanding the fact that non-exempt 

employees were entitled to nine holidays per calendar year of paid leave. 

48. Additionally, the rotating shift schedule required non-exempts 

to work 254 regular eight hour days per calendar year.  

49. On the rotating shift schedule non-exempt employees were 

required to work 273 days per calendar year.  

50. Non-exempt employees were entitled to ten days of paid 

vacation per calendar year. 

51. Non-exempt employees were entitled to comparable time off 

for working required overtime on holidays in lieu of holiday pay. 
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52. Non-exempt employees were entitled to five sick days per year 

and three personal leave days.   

53. In 1972 the general policy at the Sand Mountain plant was to 

encourage non-exempt “production level” employees to work as much 

overtime as possible.   

54. Plaintiffs and other non-exempts worked substantial amounts of 

voluntary overtime in 1972 in addition to mandatory overtime.  

55. Plaintiffs and other non-exempts were paid – either directly or 

indirectly-or entitled to payment for time not actually worked – i.e. holidays, 

vacations, temporary disability, comp time etc.  

56. Plaintiffs and other non-exempts were entitled to be credited 

with a minimum of 1000 Hours of Service in calendar year 1972 under the 

1976 Plan. 

57. Plaintiffs are entitled to be credited with one full year of 

Vesting Service for calendar year 1972. 

58. Plaintiffs are entitled to eight years of Vesting Service from 

January 1, 1973 through December 31, 1980. 

 59. Monsanto stopped production at the Sand Mountain plant in 

Marshall County, Alabama in February 1981. 
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60. According to the 1976 Plan a plan participant was to receive 

credit for Hours of Service for absence from active work during the first 12 

months due to a layoff.  

61. Plaintiffs were placed on layoff status upon completion of their 

last day of active work at the Sand Mountain plant. 

62. Plaintiffs were entitled to one year of credited service for the 

period January 1, 1981 through December 31, 1981.    

63. Under the 1976 Plan participants with ten years of Vesting 

Service are entitled to a pension benefit. 

64. Plaintiffs have ten years of Vesting Service under the 1976 

Plan. 

65. The 1976 Plan was finalized in July 1979. 

66. Around or about September 1979, the Monsanto Company 

Employee Benefits Plan Committee (“Committee”) approved a 

recommendation by the Monsanto administrator for the exclusion of 

overtime for purposes of determining Hours of Service.  

67. The Plan cannot be amended until participants are given proper 

notice. 

68. The “95 Hour Rule,” which credited a flat rate of 95 Hours of 

Service for each semi-monthly payroll period for technical and clerical 
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participants, was formally incorporated into the Plan when it was amended, 

restated, and continued as the 1981 Plan. 

69. The 1976 Plan was amended, restated and continued as the 

“1981 Monsanto Company Salaried Employees’ Pension Plan,” the “1981 

Plan,” after Plaintiffs and other non-exempt employees working at the Sand 

Mountain plant were placed on layoff status. 

70. Plaintiffs were never given notice of the amendment, 

restatement, and continuation of the 1976 Plan.   

71. The 1981 SPD, which contained the “95 Hour Rule,” was not 

provided to Plaintiffs.  

72. Plaintiffs at the time of their discharge were rightfully entitled 

to their separated deferred vested pension benefit under the Plan. 

73. Defendants are required to report annually all separated 

participants with a deferred vested benefit on SSA Form 5500. 

74. Plaintiffs and other non-exempt participants were not listed on 

Schedule SSA Form 5500 for 1979, 1980, 1981, and/or 1982 as being 

separated participants with a deferred vested benefit. 

75. Non-exempt participants hired prior to August 1972 whom 

Defendants now admit are entitled to their separated deferred vested benefit 
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were not listed on Schedule SSA Form 5500 for 1979, 1980, 1981, and/or 

1982. 

76. Exempt management level employees who worked at the Sand 

Mountain plant were listed on Schedule SSA Form 5500 for 1979, 1980, 

1981, or 1982 as being separated participants with a deferred vested benefit. 

77. Plaintiff, Bob Heptinstall, inquired about his vested benefit over 

the telephone with a representative of Defendant Pharmacia/Monsanto.   

78. Plaintiff, Bob Heptinstall, was notified by a letter from 

Defendant Monsanto dated February 12, 2004, that he did not meet the 

necessary service requirements to accrue a vested benefit because he accrued 

only 9.685 years of vesting service. 

79. Monsanto failed to provided proper notice of the reason for the 

decision and failed to give notice of the opportunity for a full and fair review 

as required by ERISA § 503(1) & (2).  

80. On or about January 23, 2006, Plaintiff, Bob Heptinstall, filed a 

request for administrative review of the denial of his rightful pension benefit 

with Defendant Monsanto Employees Benefits Plans Committee. 

81. On or about January 26, 2006, the Honorable Robert B. Propst 

ruled in a related case, CV 04-PT-0562-M Gilley v. Monsanto, that the “95 
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Hour Rule” could not be utilized to recalculate vested service accrued in 

1972 under the 1976 Plan. 

82. The Employee Benefits Plans Committee, the “Committee,” by 

letter dated March 10, 2006, explained that the Monsanto administrator 

calculated Bob Heptinstall’s vesting service according to the “95 Hour 

Rule.”   

83. Defendants used the “95 Hour Rule,” a later amendment to the 

Plan, to retroactively recalculate accrued benefits for Vesting Service under 

the 1976 Plan for calendar year 1972.  

84. The Committee explained that the Monsanto administrator 

calculated Bob Heptinstall’s service as follows: 

Hire date      August 30, 1972 
Termination from layoff    March 31, 1982 
Vesting Service 1972   0.411 years (9 x 95 =   

       855/2080) 
Vesting Service 1973-1981  9.000 years 
Vesting Service 1982   0.274 years 
Total Vesting Service   9.685 years 

 85. The Secretary of the Committee recalculated Bob Heptinstall’s 

vesting service as follows: 

Hire date      August 30, 1972 
Layoff date     February 27, 1981 
Termination from layoff   January 1, 1982 
Vesting Service 1972   0.411 years (9 X 95 =   

       855/2080) 
Vesting Service 1973-1981  9.0     years 
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Vesting Service 1982   0.046 years (Based on January 
1,        1982 termination date) 

Total Vesting Service   9.457 years 

86. In support of his administrative review Bob Heptinstall 

submitted an outline of how his service accrued under the 1976 Plan and 

under the “1000 Hour Rule,” a certified copy of his Social Security earnings 

for calendar year 1972, a sworn affidavit stating his base pay, and a record 

of all hours worked on the B Shift for calendar year 1972.  

87. The Committee during the administrative appeal found that Bob 

Heptinstall’s termination date was actually November 1, 1982, rather than 

January 1, 1982, as previously indicated. 

88. By letter dated April 27, 2006, the Committee notified Bob 

Heptinstall that it upheld the administrator’s decision that he was not entitled 

to a deferred vested pension because he did not have ten years of vesting 

service. 

89. The Committee failed to acknowledge Heptinstall’s termination 

date of November 1, 1982, and revisited eligibility by recalculating his 

accrued hours of service for 1972 according to the “95 Hour Rule” under 

Section 17.5(f) of the 1981 Plan Document. 
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90. The Committee as did the administrator found that Bob 

Heptinstall had 855 hours of Vesting Service (0.411 years= 855/2080) for 

his partial year of service in 1972.  

91. The Committee rejected the assertion that Bob Heptinstall 

accrued credited service for 1972 under the “1000 Hour Rule” of the 1976 

Plan maintaining that the Department of Labor allowed full discretionary 

power to use any equivalency chosen by the administrator. 

92. The Committee also rejected Plaintiff Bob Heptinstall’s sworn 

statement that he had over 1000 hours of service in 1972 based on earnings 

reported to the Social Security Administration by Defendant Monsanto. 

93. Defendants arbitrarily and capriciously denied Bob Heptinstall 

credit for his accrued Vesting Service for 1972 based on a later amendment 

to the Plan. 

94. Defendants arbitrarily and capriciously denied Plaintiff Bob 

Heptinstall credit for a full year of Vesting Service from his last day of 

active employment at Monsanto until his termination in November 1982. 

95. Defendants are revisiting eligibility determinations for non-

exempt production level employees of the Sand Mountain plant and 

intentionally denying Plaintiffs their deferred vested benefits. 
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96. Defendants applied the “95 Hour Rule,” a later amendment to 

the Plan, which Bob Heptinstall had no notice of to recalculate vesting 

service thereby reducing accrued benefits to intentionally deny him his 

rightful benefit. 

97. Defendants applied the “95 Hour Rule,” a later amendment to 

the Plan, in direct contravention of a valid court judgment holding that 

Defendants could not use the “95 Hour Rule” to recalculate accrued benefits 

for calendar year 1972 that accrued under the 1976 Plan. 

98. Defendants are in possession of and maintain control over 

compensation earned while Plaintiffs were employed by Monsanto that 

Defendants, as fiduciaries, are holding until Plaintiffs reached retirement 

age. 

99. Defendants intentionally interfered with Bob Heptinstall and 

other Plaintiffs’ right to obtain their deferred pension benefit. 

100. As a result of the administrator’s decision to recalculate 

Plaintiff Bob Heptinstall’s hours of service for 1972, the Committee denied 

him accrued benefits and the correct amount of Vesting Service and found 

that he was not a participant entitled to deferred compensation under the 

Plan.   
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101. The Committee contends that there are no records of the hours 

worked by Bob Heptinstall for calendar year 1972. 

102. When the Sand Mountain plant closed all records and 

documents including but not limited to punch cards, pay records, overtime 

records, personnel files, notices, SPDs, plan documents, and operational 

documents were sent to the plant in Decatur, Alabama, now a Solutia, Inc. 

plant.   

103. Documents stored in the basement of the plant in Decatur, 

Alabama now a Solutia, Inc. for more than twenty three years from the Sand 

Mountain plant, with the exception of a few select records from personnel 

files, were shredded after the interlocutory appeal in the related case Gilley 

v. Monsanto CV 04-562 was filed.  

104.  As a result of the spin-off of Solutia, Inc. some, but not all, 

former employees of the now defunct Sand Mountain plant and participants 

of the Monsanto Salaried Employees’ Pension Plan are now participants of 

the Solutia Inc. Employees’ Pension Plan. 

105. Plaintiff, Larry Collins, will be eligible for early retirement at 

fifty five years of age on June 23, 2008. 

106. Larry Collins inquired about his deferred vested benefit over 

the telephone with a representative of Defendant Pharmacia/Monsanto.   
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107. Plaintiff, Larry Collins, was notified by a letter from Defendant 

Monsanto dated August 25, 2004, that he did not meet the necessary service 

requirements to receive a deferred vested benefit because he accrued only 

9.685 years of vesting service. 

108. Monsanto did not give Larry Collins a proper explanation for 

its decision and failed to give notice of the opportunity for a full and fair 

review as required by ERISA § 503(1) & (2).   

109. Defendants utilize Fidelity, Incorporated as a service center to 

interact with participants of the Monsanto Salaried Employees Pension Plan 

in regards to eligibility, information etc. 

 110. Fidelity maintains a website, www.netbenefits.com, which 

allows participants to inquire about their pension benefit over the internet. 

111. A review of Fidelity’s website shows that Defendants do not 

consider Plaintiff Wendell Sims to be a participant in the Monsanto Salaried 

Employees Pension Plan. 

112. A review of Fidelity’s website shows that Defendants do not 

consider Plaintiff Fred Works to be a participant in the Monsanto Salaried 

Employees Pension Plan. 
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113. A review of Fidelity’s website shows that Defendants do not 

consider Plaintiff Thomas Campbell to be a participant in the Monsanto 

Salaried Employees Pension Plan. 

114. A review of Fidelity’s website shows that Defendants do not 

consider Plaintiff Russell Newman to be a participant in the Monsanto 

Salaried Employees Pension Plan. 

115. A review of Fidelity’s website shows that Defendants do not 

consider Plaintiff Jacky Blackwell to be a participant in the Monsanto 

Salaried Employees Pension Plan. 

116. Plaintiff, Wendell Sims, will be eligible for early retirement at 

fifty five years of age on August 16, 2009. 

117. Plaintiff, Fred Works, will be eligible for early retirement at 

fifty five years of age on July 22, 2008. 

118. Plaintiff, Thomas Campbell, will be eligible for early retirement 

at fifty five years of age on May 6, 2007. 

119. Plaintiff, Russell Newman, will be eligible for early retirement 

at fifty five years of age on January 18, 2009. 

120. Plaintiff, Jacky Blackwell, will be eligible for early retirement 

at fifty five years of age on June 5, 2008. 
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121. Plaintiffs, Larry Collins, Wendell Sims, Fred Works, Thomas 

Campbell, Russell Newman, and Jacky Blackwell, allege that it would be 

futile to submit their claims for administrative review in light of Defendants’ 

consistent position that they have absolute discretion under the Plan and can 

employ the “95 Hour Rule,” or any other equivalency under ERISA, to 

recalculate accrued benefits and hours of service for 1972. 

122. Defendants Monsanto Company, Inc., Monsanto Salaried 

Employees’ Pension Plan, the Monsanto Employee Benefits Plan 

Committee, the Monsanto Company Employee Benefits Executive 

Committee, and Pharmacia Corporation are all proper defendants in this 

action as a result of a known conflict of interest.  

STATEMENT OF CLAIMS 

COUNT ONE 
 

ERISA § 502(a)(3) and/or ERISA § 502(a)(1)(B) on behalf of Plaintiffs 

individually and on behalf of other similarly situated non-exempt 

participants 

123. Plaintiffs restate and reincorporate the above and forgoing facts 

and allegations of paragraphs one through one hundred twenty-two, 

inclusive, of this complaint.  
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124. Plaintiffs are participants in the Monsanto Salaried Employees’ 

Pension Plan and/or the Solutia Inc. Employees’ Pension Plan.  Plaintiffs 

accrued more than ten years of credited service and ten years of Vesting 

Service under the terms of the 1976 Plan and over ten years under the terms 

of the 1981 Plan if Defendants are enjoined from improperly applying the 

“95 Hour Rule” retroactively.  

125. Plaintiffs are entitled to “all appropriate equitable relief” 

including but not limited to a declaration that they are entitled to future 

benefits and/or benefits under the Plan.  

COUNT TWO 
 

Under ERISA § 502(a)(3) for Discrimination and Intentional 

Interference with Protected Rights Under ERISA § 510 

126. Plaintiffs restate and reincorporate the above and forgoing facts 

and allegations of paragraphs one through one hundred twenty-five, 

inclusive, of this complaint.  

127. Plaintiffs are entitled to “all appropriate equitable relief” to 

redress the Defendants’ discrimination against non-exempt participants in 

favor of highly compensated exempt participants by amending the Plan to 

exclude overtime and thus accrued benefits while simultaneously closing the 

Sand Mountain plant at a time that would cause many non-exempts to forfeit 
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their deferred compensation that was in the possession and control of the 

Defendants and by failing to give participants notice of their right to the 

obtainment of their deferred compensation and/or right to administrative and 

judicial review of benefit determinations. 

COUNT THREE 

Under ERISA § 502(a)(2) and § 502(a)(3) for Liability  

Under ERISA § 409 for Breach of Fiduciary Duty Under ERISA § 404  

128. Plaintiffs restate and reincorporate the above and forgoing facts 

and allegations of paragraphs one through one hundred twenty-seven, 

inclusive, of this complaint.  

129. Plaintiffs, the Plan, and all participants are entitled to “all 

appropriate equitable relief” including but not limited to having profits 

restored to the Plan and the removal of the fiduciary for Defendants’ breach 

of their fiduciary duty to all participants by amending the Plan in a 

discriminatory manner without notice to participants, by retroactively 

applying a later amendment to the Plan to intentionally interfere with the 

rightful obtainment of rights under the Plan, by failing to report non-exempt 

participants with a deferred vested pension benefit on annual reports and by 

failing to keep proper records thereby facilitating the revisiting of eligibility 

determinations, and by failing to give proper notice to participants regarding 
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their entitlement to a deferred compensation pension and a review of benefit 

determinations.  

130. Furthermore, the Committee, the Executive Committee, and/or 

Pharmacia/Monsanto/Solutia as administrator(s) and/or fiduciary(ies) of  the  

Monsanto Salaried Employees’ Pension Plan failed to discharge their duties 

with respect to the plan and its participants as required by ERISA in that the 

Defendants amended the method of calculating Hours of Service under the 

1976 Plan for the sole purpose of benefiting the plan sponsor rather than the 

plan and its participants. 

COUNT FOUR 

Under ERISA § 502(a)(3) for Violation of ERISA § 204(g) 

131. Plaintiffs restate and reincorporate the above and forgoing facts 

and allegations of paragraphs one through one hundred thirty, inclusive, of 

this complaint.  

132. Defendants retroactively applied “the 95 Hour Rule” to 

intentionally reduce accrued credited service under the 1976 Plan and the 

“1000 Hour Rule” in order to deny participants’ of their vested benefit.   

133. As a result of Defendants’ retroactive application of the 95-

Hour Rule Plaintiffs and/or other similarly situated plan participants suffered 
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a reduction or loss in their accrued benefit and/or right to their pension 

benefit.  

 134. Plaintiffs are entitled to “all appropriate equitable relief” for 

Defendants’ violation of ERISA § 204(g) that caused Plaintiffs to forfeit 

their deferred compensation held by the Defendants. 

COUNT FIVE 

Equitable Estoppel  

135. Plaintiffs restate and reincorporate the above and forgoing facts 

and allegations of paragraphs one through one hundred thirty-four, inclusive, 

of this complaint.  

136. Plaintiffs are entitled to “all appropriate equitable relief” 

including but not limited to estopping Defendants from denying them and 

other similarly situated non-exempt participants their rightful deferred 

pension benefits because Defendants gave notice of only one method of 

calculating hours of service under the 1976 Plan, the “1000 Hour Rule,” but 

are now twenty plus years later revisiting eligibility determinations using 

equivalencies that were published to participants after Plaintiffs and other 

similarly situated participants were on layoff status. 

137. Furthermore, the Defendants are also estopped from revisiting 

benefit determinations because Section 17.5 of the 1981 Plan is ambiguous 
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on its face including overtime under the definition of Hours of Service while 

simultaneously excluding overtime pursuant to the “95 Hour Rule” and/or 

the “elapsed time” method.   

COUNT SIX 

Class Claim 

138. Plaintiffs restate and reincorporate the above and forgoing facts 

and allegations of paragraphs one through one hundred thirty-one, inclusive, 

of this complaint.  

139. Plaintiffs on behalf of themselves and other similarly situated 

participants are entitled to “all appropriate equitable relief” under Counts 

One, Two, Three and Four of the Complaint.  The putative class is defined 

as: 

All participants of the 1976 Monsanto Company Salaried 
Employes’ Pension Plan, excluding the Defendants, both 
active or retired, or their beneficiaries or estates that had, 
have, or will have their credited service, based on “Hours 
of Service” as that phrase is defined by the terms of the 
1976 Plan, reduced by the retroactive application of the 95 
Hour Rule causing a concomitant reduction in their 
accrued benefit.  

 
 140. Plaintiffs allege that the class as defined is so numerous that 

joinder of all members is impracticable. 
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 141. Plaintiffs further allege that there are questions of law and fact 

common to the class as a whole as defined herein by these counts that relate 

to the wrongful acts of the Defendants. 

 142. Plaintiffs allege that the typicality requirement for class 

certification for each count as defined above is satisfied and all similarly 

situated participants’ interest will be safeguarded because Plaintiffs’ 

interests are substantially coextensive with interests of the class as defined 

and because the claims arise from the same events or practice or course of 

conduct that gives rise to claims of the other class members. 

 143. Plaintiffs further allege that they are adequate representatives 

for the class and that they will fairly and adequately protect the interests of 

the class members and that their counsel is sufficiently competent to assist in 

the prosecution of this action. 

 144. Plaintiffs further aver that the requirements of Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure Rule 23 (b)(1), (b)(2) and (b)(3) have been met in regards to 

the class as defined above because the prosecution of individual actions by 

members of the class creates "a risk of adjudications which would, as a 

practical matter, be dispositive of the interests of the other members not 

parties to the actions," "the part[ies] opposing the class ha[ve] acted or 

refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the class, thereby making 
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appropriate final injunctive relief or corresponding declaratory relief with 

respect to the class as a whole appropriate," and because common questions 

of fact or law predominate over any questions affecting only individual 

members, and a class action is superior to other available methods for the 

fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy.     

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 Based on the foregoing actions of the Defendants, Plaintiffs and/or 

other similarly situated plan participants will suffer or suffered injury 

entitling them to relief. 

 WHEREFORE Plaintiffs on behalf of themselves and other similarly 

situated plan participants demand judgment as follows: 

 (i). Clarification of the terms of the Plan and judicial determination 

of Plaintiffs’ entitlement to future benefits; 

 (ii). Judicial determination that Defendants violated the terms of 

ERISA §§ 204(g), 404, 503 & 510, and injunctive relief against future 

violations; 

 (iii). Restoration to the Monsanto Pension Plan for any losses 

resulting from Defendants’ breach of fiduciary duty and/or any profits made 

as result thereof and any other equitable and remedial relief as the court may 

deem appropriate including removal of such fiduciary;  
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 (iv). Award of costs and a reasonable attorney’s fee; and 

 (v).  Award Plaintiff and other similarly situated plan participants 

any other equitable relief that the court deems appropriate to redress the 

Defendants’ wrongful actions and/or violations of ERISA. 

Respectfully submitted,  

/s/ Elisa Smith Rives 
 Elisa Smith Rives  

     Attorney for Plaintiffs  
        ASB # -9351-E61R 
OF COUNSEL: 
Elisa S. Rives, LLC 
2208 Ringold Street, Ste 103 
Guntersville, AL 35976 
Tel:  (256) 582-3559 
Fax: (256) 582-3559 
Cell: (256) 558-4626 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
The undersigned hereby certifies that a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing was served by the court’s electronic filing system on the following 
counsel of record, this 6th day of May, 2008. 

 

BAXLEY, DILLARD, DAUPHIN,  
McKNIGHT & BARCLIFT 
Donald R. James 
Joel E. Dillard 
2008 Third Avenue South  
Birmingham, AL 35233 
 
BRYAN CAVE, LLP     /s/ Elisa Smith Rives 
Jeffery S. Russell      Elisa Smith Rives 
Darci Madden      ASB # 9351-E61R  
211 N. Broadway      Telephone/FAX  
Suite 3600       (256) 582-3559 
St. Louis, MO 63102     ASB # 9351-E61R 
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PLAINTIFFS REQUEST THAT THE CLERK OF THE COURT 
PLEASE SERVE THE FOLLOWING DEFENDANTS BY 

CERTIFIED MAIL 
 
 
SOLUTIA INC. 
575 Maryville Centre Dr. 
St. Louis, MO 63141  
Phone: 314-674-1000 
Fax: 314-674-1585 
 
SOLUTIA INC. EMPLOYEES’ PENSION PLAN 
575 Maryville Centre Dr. 
St. Louis, MO 63141  
 
 
 
 

/s/ Elisa Smith Rives 
      Elisa Smith Rives  
      ASB # 9351-E61R    
      Telephone/FAX (256) 582-3559 
      ASB # 9351-E61R 
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